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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

 

SAMUEL DUKORE, 

320 23
rd

 St. 

Apt. 419 

Arlington, VA 22202, 

 

and 

 

KELLY CANAVAN, 

2701 Colonial Rd. 

Accokeek, MD 20607, 

 

  PLAINTIFFS 

 vs. 

 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, 

1350 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 

Suite 316 

Washington, DC 20004, 

 

and 

 

UNKNOWN MPD EMPLOYEES, 

in their individual capacities, 

 

 

  DEFENDANTS 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

) 

 

 

Judge _____________ 
Civil Action No. ____________ 
 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

COMPLAINT  

 

 

THE PARTIES 

 

1. Plaintiff Samuel Dukore is a citizen of Virginia residing at 320 23
rd

 St, 

Apt 419. 

2. Plaintiff Kelly Canavan is a citizen of Maryland residing at 2701 Colonial 

Rd. 
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3. The Metropolitan Police Department is an agency of Defendant District of 

Columbia, which is a municipal corporation. 

4. Defendant Unknown MPD Employees are and were, at all times relevant 

to this Complaint, employed by the Metropolitan Police Department.  At all times 

relevant to this Complaint, Unknown MPD Employees were acting under color of 

District law within the scope of their employment at the Metropolitan Police Department.  

Unknown MPD Employees are sued in their individual capacities.   

 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This action arises under the District of Columbia common law and 42 

USC § 1983. 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter pursuant to 

28 USC §§ 1331 and §1367(a). 

7. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 USC § 1391(b)(2) because 

the events or omissions giving rise to this action occurred in the District of Columbia. 

 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

8. Plaintiffs are members of Occupy DC, which is part of the larger Occupy 

movement.   

9. The Occupy Movement is a people-initiated movement that commenced 

with Occupy Wall Street in Zucotti Park, now called Liberty Square, in Manhattan's 

Financial District in New York City on September 17, 2011.  At its peak, Occupy had 

spread to hundreds of cities, towns and states in the United States and to more than 1500 

locations worldwide.  The movement seeks to expose how the wealthiest 1% of society 

are promulgating an unfair global economy that is harming people, and destroying 
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communities worldwide.  The Occupy protesters have come out to protest and to petition 

the government for more economic equality through societal and governmental changes. 

10. A key purpose of the Occupy Movement is to raise awareness about issues 

with the United States political process and the country's extreme economic inequality by 

participating in symbolic, peaceful protests, or “occupations.” 

11. The protests in the states, cities and towns across the country use the 

“Occupy” identifier, first used by Occupy Wall Street, and the same slogan, “We are the 

99%,” referring to the extreme wealth disparity between the wealthiest 1% of Americans 

and the rest of the populace. 

12. The Occupy protesters’ physical occupation of the portion of the city or 

town which they occupy is a core component of the message of the Occupy movement, 

and is expressed through the establishment of tents. The tents are a key component of 

protesters’ actual “occupation” of a public space and therefore a key component of the 

Occupy protesters’ political statement and petitioning conduct.  It expresses the Occupy 

protesters' statement of the 99% taking back society in a way that other forms of protest 

could not express. 

13. On February 13, 2012, a group of participants, including Plaintiffs, set up 

tents on the sidewalk outside of Merrill Lynch’s offices at 1152 15
th
 St., NW.  The tents 

did not prevent others from using the sidewalk. 

14. The protesters reasonably expected that less than fifty persons would 

participate and less than fifty persons in fact attended.  The assembly occurred on the 

sidewalk and not on a District street. 

15.   The assembly took place solely on a public sidewalk and did not prevent 

pedestrians from using the sidewalk or crosswalks. 
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16. The literal occupation of a public space in front of Merrill Lynch’s offices 

was a core component of Plaintiffs’ message that they sought to convey to the world.  

Physically occupying a public space in front of Merrill Lynch’s offices was the only 

effective manner in which Plaintiffs could express their message. 

17. The tents in front of Merrill Lynch’s offices express Plaintiffs’ statement 

of the 99% taking back society and government from the grip of banking and financial 

institutions in a way that other forms of protest could not.  The tents also clearly 

identified the protest as part of Occupy DC and the larger Occupy movement in a manner 

that other forms of protest could not accomplish.  Occupy DC, along with the entire 

Occupy movement, seeks to begin an ongoing discussion about reforming banking and 

financial institutions and removing special interests from government. Marching, making 

speeches, holding up signs, or other forms of protests cannot communicate the message 

of taking back society from banking and financial institutions in the manner that 

Plaintiffs’ tents could. 

18. Plaintiffs’ tents also symbolize an occupation and this is central to their 

message that challenges corporations’ occupation of the government. 

19. The location in front of Merrill Lynch’s offices is also fundamental to 

Plaintiffs’ message.  Locating the tents there communicates a message about the object of 

their protest, and that message could not be communicated as effectively in another 

location.  Plaintiffs have a right to assemble near the object of their protest so that they 

may be seen and heard. 

20. There is no alternative location in Washington at which Plaintiffs could 

effectively communicate their message about Merrill Lynch. 

21.  On February 13, 2012, after Plaintiffs and other protesters had set up tents 

in front of Merrill Lynch’s offices, MPD officers told Plaintiffs and the other protesters 
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that unless the protesters removed the tents, they would be arrested and the tents would 

be taken.   

22. MPD officers then conspired with each other for about forty-five minutes 

to create a pretext for arresting the protesters.  MPD announced to the protesters for a 

second time that unless the protesters removed the tents, they would be arrested and the 

tents would be taken. At that point, the protesters took down all the tents.   

23. Plaintiffs re-assembled one of the tents and sat down inside of it.  Ms. 

Canavan and Mr. Dukore gave their possessions to the other protesters.  MPD officers 

asked that Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore leave the tent and gave them three warnings.  

Unknown MPD Employees then arrested Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore, whereupon they 

were transported to MPD’s Second District and charged with a violation of DCMR 24-

121.  Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore were released approximately 3-4 hours later.  The 

charges were “no papered” on March 8, 2012. 

24. The tent that Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore were in was seized and, on 

information and belief, destroyed, by Unknown MPD Employees after MPD officers 

placed the tent into a truck.  There were other protesters present who could have taken the 

tent had the MPD officers offered them the opportunity to take it.  MPD officers provided 

Ms. Caravan and Mr. Dukore with no opportunity to retrieve the tent. 

25. Neither the tent that was set up by Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore, nor any 

of the other tents constituted a camp or temporary place of abode because the tents were 

purely symbolic and obviously part of a protest.  The MPD officers did not have any 

probable cause to believe that Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore were violating DCMR 24-

121 because there was no visible sleeping/living equipment inside or around the tents and 

the tents were clearly part of a protest, as evidenced by the cardboard signs and the 

messages written on the tents.   

Case 1:12-cv-00409-RWR   Document 1    Filed 03/16/12   Page 5 of 9



6 

 

26. The MPD officers who arrested Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore knew or 

should have known that DCMR 24-121 was plainly unconstitutional on its face and as 

applied to Plaintiffs’ conduct under the First and Fifth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

27. The MPD officers who arrested Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore knew or 

should have known that DCMR 24-121 does not prohibit the use of tents for First 

Amendment assemblies because D.C. Code § 5-331.05(g) establishes a right to use a 

stand or structure in connection with a First Amendment assembly under D.C. Code § 5-

331.05(d) which does not prevent others from using the sidewalk. 

28. None of the tents or protest participants were blocking or incommoding 

any passersby or violating any other law.  Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore were not in any 

way loud or disorderly and their failure to obey the MPD officer’s order that they leave 

the tent was justified by the fact that the order was unconstitutional. 

29. The MPD officers arrested Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore in violation of 

their constitutional rights, as well as their statutory rights under the First Amendment 

Assemblies Act of 2004, D.C. Code § 5-331.01, et seq., and their rights under the District 

common law.  The MPD officers targeted Ms. Canavan and Mr. Dukore for arrest, and 

urged their prosecution, in retaliation for their exercise of their First Amendment rights. 

30. As a direct and proximate cause of these violations of the Plaintiff’s rights 

under the U.S. Constitution, D.C. Code, and the District of Columbia common law, 

Plaintiffs have suffered damages. 

31. The appropriate and required notice of Plaintiffs’ intent to sue the District 

was made by hand-delivering a copy of Plaintiffs’ claims to the Mayor’s designee, the 

Office of Risk Management, on March 11, 2012. 
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COUNT I: 

FALSE ARREST / FALSE IMPRISONMENT 

(All defendants) 

32. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-31. 

33. Unknown MPD Employees illegally arrested and imprisoned Plaintiff 

against their will without probable cause. 

34. Defendant District of Columbia is liable under the theory of respondeat 

superior. 

COUNT II: 

LIBEL AND SLANDER 

(All defendants) 

35. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-31. 

36. The false accusations against Plaintiffs that they committed criminal acts 

were made intentionally, with knowledge that the accusations were false, and were made 

by Unknown MPD Employees recklessly and with utter disregard of whether the 

accusations were true and constituted libel and slander against Plaintiffs.  

37. As a result of Unknown MPD Employees’ wrongful actions, Plaintiffs 

have suffered injury including damage to their reputation. 

38. Defendant District of Columbia is liable under the theory of respondeat 

superior. 

COUNT III: 

CONVERSION 

(All defendants) 

39. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-31. 

40. Unknown MPD Employees intentionally and wrongfully dispossessed 

Plaintiffs of the tent and on information and belief intentionally and wrongfully destroyed 

it. 
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41. Plaintiffs were in possession of the tent and rightfully entitled to possess it 

at the time Unknown MPD Employees dispossessed Plaintiffs of it and, on information 

and belief, destroyed it. 

42. Defendant District of Columbia is liable under the theory of respondeat 

superior. 

COUNT IV: 

VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT (42 USC § 1983)  

(Defendant Unknown MPD Employees) 

 

43. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-30. 

44. Unknown MPD Employees violated Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights by 

arresting them in retaliation for their exercise of their right to express themselves by 

displaying a tent as part of Occupy DC.  Unknown MPD Employees did not have 

probable cause to arrest Plaintiffs.  Unknown MPD Employees would not have arrested 

Plaintiffs but for their engaging in expressive activity by displaying a tent.  

 

COUNT IV: 

VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT (42 USC § 1983)  

(Defendant Unknown MPD Employees) 

45. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-30. 

46. Unknown MPD Employees violated Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendment rights 

by arresting them without probable cause to believe that they had committed a crime. 

47. Unknown MPD Employees violated Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendment rights 

by seizing and, on information and belief, destroying, the tent that Plaintiffs possessed, 

without a warrant or legitimate reason. 

 

COUNT V: 

VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT (42 USC § 1983)  

(Defendant Unknown MPD Employees) 

48. This Count realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 8-30. 
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49. Unknown MPD Employees violated Plaintiffs’ Fifth Amendment right to 

due process by seizing and, on information and belief, destroying, the tent that Plaintiffs 

possessed, without affording them an opportunity to be heard. 

  

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:   

 

(1) Declare Defendants’ conduct to be unlawful; 

(2) Award Plaintiff compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

(3) Grant Plaintiff an award of attorney fees and other litigation costs reasonably 

incurred in this action; 

(4) Grant Plaintiff such other and further relief which the Court deems proper. 

 

JURY TRIAL 

 

Plaintiff demands a jury trial for all issues that may be tried by jury. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

__/s/ Jeffrey Light_______________ 

 

     Jeffrey L. Light 

     D.C. Bar #485360 

     1712 Eye St., NW 

     Suite 915 

     Washington , DC 20006 

     (202)277-6213 

 

     Counsel for Plaintiffs  
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